## DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

No. 23-CF-514

#### TYREE BENSON,

Clerk of the Court Received 12/29/2023 12:51 PM Filed 12/29/2023 12:51 PM

Appellant,

v.

#### UNITED STATES of AMERICA

Appellee.

Appeal from the Superior Court of the District of Columba Criminal Division

**OPENING BRIEF FOR APPELLANT** 

SICILIA C. ENGLERT, ESQ. Law Office of Sicilia C. Englert, LLC 1800 Diagonal Road, Suite 600 Alexandria, VA 22314 D.C. Bar No. 451976 sicilia.englert@englertlawoffice.com (703) 636-2261

Appointed Counsel for Appellant

##

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Whether police officers lacked reasonable suspicion to seize Mr. Benson where he was not seen doing anything illegal and his flight was provoked by the officers' aggressive approach?
- 2. Whether officers lacked reasonable suspicion to frisk Mr. Benson for weapons where a gesture to his waistband and his initial flight with two arms swinging was insufficient to show that he was armed and dangerous?
- 3. Whether the statutes Mr. Benson is convicted of violating are unconstitutional under the Second Amendment?

### STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This appeal is from a final judgment of the Superior Court of the District of Columbia. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to D.C. Code § 11-721(a)(1).

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 30, 2022, Mr. Benson was charged with: Count One—carrying a pistol without a license (outside home or place of business), in violation of D.C. Code §22-4504(a)(1)(2001 ed.); Count Two—possession of a large capacity ammunition feeding device, in violation of D.C. Code §7-2506.01(b) (2001 ed.); Count Three—possession of unregistered firearm, in violation of D.C. Code §7-2502.01(a)(2001 ed.); and Count Four—unlawful possession of ammunition, in violation of D.C. Code §7-2506.01(a)(3)(2001 ed.).

Following a motions hearing on April 11, 2023, Mr. Benson proceed to a bench trial on stipulated facts. The trial court found Mr. Benson guilty of all four counts in the indictment.

On June 9, 2023, the trial court sentenced Mr. Benson to concurrent suspended sentences as follows: Count One—12 months of incarceration, execution of sentence suspended as to all; Count Two—six months of incarceration, execution of sentence suspended as to all; Count Three—six months of incarceration, execution of sentence suspended as to all; Count Four—six months of incarceration, execution of sentence suspended as to all. The court imposed three years of supervised release, all suspended, and one year of supervised probation.

A timely notice of appeal was filed on June 19, 2023.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

## **Preliminary Hearing**

At the preliminary hearing, Metropolitan Police Department (MPD) Officer Bryan Madera testified that he arrested Tyree Benson on October 8, 2022, at approximately 5:15 p.m. Tr. 10/26/22 p. 6-7. Madera wished to make corrections to his Gerstein before adopting it. *Id.* at 7. The Gerstein stated that Benson ran down an alley with his left arm swinging freely and his right arm positioned to his front waistband. *Id.* at 8. Madera corrected this to say, "before he took an unprovoked flight,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> "Tr." denotes transcript, followed by the date of the proceeding and page number.

he grabbed his waistband, then turned to—towards the—alley, running down the alley with both his arms swinging freely." *Id.* at 8. Madera also corrected a name in the Gerstein to specify that Benson was the person transported to the police station. *Id.* at 9. After those corrections, Madera adopted the Gerstein, *id.* at 9, and the trial court found there was probable cause. *Id.* at 25.

#### Motions Hearing and Trial

On April 11, 2023, the trial court held a hearing on Benson's motion to suppress evidence. The court heard testimony from two MPD officers, and viewed excerpts of body worn camera videos.

Testimony of Officer Joshua Anderson

Officer Joshua Anderson testified that on the day<sup>2</sup> of his encounter with Mr. Benson, he was in uniform, riding as a passenger in an unmarked police vehicle in the 2900 block of R Street, SE. Tr. 4/11/23 p. 15. They were patrolling because in previous days, there had been reports of gunshot sounds in that area, though there had been no such reports that day. His vehicle followed behind Investigator Bryan Madera's unmarked vehicle. *Id.* at 15-16.

When his vehicle pulled up, Anderson saw Officers Marsh and Slabatoff running down an alley, and Anderson joined the chase on foot. *Id.* at 18. As Anderson entered

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The witnesses' attention were directed to September 8, 2022, Tr. 4/11/23 p. 15, 45, but it appears that the incident happened on October 8, 2022. Tr. 10/26.22 p. 6; Tr. 4/11/23 p. 56, 58.

the alley, he saw Benson go over an embankment into a backyard, and proceed around the corner to the front of the house. *Id.* at 18. Viewing from behind, approximately 40 feet away, Anderson saw Benson hold one of his hands to the front of his body for a few seconds while the other arm swung freely as he ran. *Id.* at 19-21, 39-40. Anderson said "waistband" to alert other officers to a potential firearm. *Id.* at 21. Anderson testified that, in his experience, many people conceal firearms in their waistband. *Id.* at 21022.

During the chase, Anderson briefly lost sight of Benson as Benson went around to the front of the building. *Id.* at 22. Anderson caught up to Benson at the 2800 block of Q Street, SE. *Id.* at 18. Benson slowed down, lowered himself to the ground, and was placed in handcuffs. *Id.* at 17, 23. Anderson conducted a protective pat down for officer safety in Benson's front waistband area where he believed there was a firearm, but did not find one. *Id.* at 23, 25. Then Benson said it was in his pant leg, so Anderson patted that area and felt what he believed to be a firearm. *Id.* at 35. As Benson was wearing pants with zippered legs, Anderson unzipped the lower right pant leg and recovered a 9mm Glock handgun with one round in the chamber and 30 rounds in the magazine. *Id.* at 25. Anderson testified, and his body worn camera video confirmed, that Benson was not wearing any gloves. *Id.* at 42.

#### Testimony of Investigator Bryan Madera

Investigator Bryan Madera testified that he was working in plain clothes in an unmarked vehicle—in the 2900 block of R Street, SE. *Id.* at 45, 58. This area is known for firearms related offenses and is an area that they commonly patrol. *Id.* Madera could not recall how many police vehicles were on the scene, but there were at least two vehicles working as a unit. *Id.* at 55-56. While driving up a hill, there was a car facing the opposite direction on his left. The two police vehicles, both facing uphill, stopped across the yellow center line in the road. *Id.* at 56-57. Madera initially testified that an individual (Benson) wearing a mask and latex gloves was trying to get into the vehicle occupied by two people who were also wearing masks and latex gloves. *Id.* at 46, 50. The vehicle occupants were frantically moving, and Benson started frantically trying to open the car door. The driver looked up, saw the police vehicle, and sped off, leaving Benson. *Id.* at 46. Madera testified that Benson was wearing a hooded sweater, face mask, and latex gloves. *Id.* at 47.

Benson ran towards an alley with other officers chasing him. *Id.* at 47. Benson's hands were both moving freely until he reached the mouth of the alley. *Id.* at 57. Madera initially could not recall whether he viewed the next events from inside or outside his vehicle. After viewing the body worn camera video at his request, he testified that he came out of his vehicle but did not chase Benson. *Id.* at 53. From approximately 25 feet

away, Madera saw Benson adjust the front of his waistband while running downhill. *Id.* at 47-48.

Madera changed his testimony on a number of points after being impeached on cross examination. Madera reviewed a body-worn camera video of Benson running, and admitted that Benson was not wearing any gloves. *Id.* at 54. Nevertheless, he maintained the contradictory position that he did not recall seeing any individuals associated with the car who were not wearing latex gloves. *Id.* at 64. Madera explained that he was confused because latex gloves were found on Benson *after* he was stopped. *Id.* at 64-65.

Madera did not recall making corrections to the Gerstein during the preliminary hearing. *Id.* at 61. However, after viewing the preliminary hearing transcript, Madera acknowledged that he changed the Gerstein to say that Benson was "openly running with both hands, both arms swinging freely." *Id.* at 61-2. Madera was also unclear about whether or not he saw Benson adjust his waistband. He testified as follows:

#### MR. SHEFFERMAN:

- Q Isn't it a fact that there was—at no time did you say at any part of the chase that you saw Mr. Benson holding—you know, not swinging his arms freely?
  - A Can you repeat that question one more time?
  - Q Was there any time when you said earlier—

THE COURT: So isn't it correct that you never saw him adjust his waistband?

THE WITNESS: Correct.

Tr. 4/11/23 p. 62. However, on redirect examination, Madera said that Benson grabbed waistband before running. *Id.* at 63-64.

According to Madera, it was warmer than usual for October, and not cold. Tr. 4/11/23 p. 58. However, after viewing body worn camera video, Madera acknowledged that, while waiting for transport, Benson asked for someone to put his coat over his head. And an officer said it was definitely cold. *Id.* at 68.

Madera admitted several times during his testimony that he did not have a detailed independent memory of the events leading to Benson's arrest. He was unable to recall the number of police vehicles working together. *Id.* at 55-56. He could not recall whether or not he got out of his vehicle until he reviewed the body camera video. *Id.* at 53. Also, after viewing the video, Madera admitted that the blue car did not leave Benson behind. Rather, Benson ran and then the blue car left the scene. *Id.* at 55. Madera did not remember making corrections to the Gerstein at the preliminary hearing. *Id.* at 61. And he was unclear about whether he saw Benson adjust his waistband *before* he ran, *id.* at 63-64, or *while* he ran downhill. *Id.* at 47-48.

## Trial Court's Ruling on the Motion to Suppress

The Superior Court denied Mr. Benson's motion to suppress evidence. The court made the following findings and conclusions:

On October 8, 2022 at about 5:10 p.m., two unmarked police cars pulled into the 2900 Block of R Street Southeast and stopped parallel to and quite

near to a dark blue vehicle in which two persons were sitting in the driver and passenger seats. And one person was outside the automobile. The officers were patrolling this area because in recent days there had been gun shots in the area. The person outside the automobile was the Defendant, he was wearing a, what I would call a balaclava style mask with a full head covering with only the eyes exposed. The two persons inside the car also were wearing the same style of mask.

There was testimony that the persons inside the car had on gloves, but I am not relying on testimony about gloves to make my findings. The cars did not, and this is significant, block the blue vehicle's path. The two police cars were unmarked, as I've said. They stopped in the opposite lane of the street from where the blue car was parked. They were in the opposite direction. Their tires did cross the yellow line into the lane where the blue car stood. But did not block the automobile.

Inside the unmarked cars were a number of police officers, it appeared that at least three officers a piece were in the cars and all of them were in full uniform. It was a bright sunny day. It was daylight. And the fact that the cars carried numerous officers was unmistakably visible to the Defendant as he stood outside the blue vehicle. The cars were probably each a car's length away from the dark blue car.

No traffic was coming through the area at the time. I credit Officer Madera that at the time the persons inside the car were making frantic motions and that the Defendant attempted urgently to get into the car without success. The Defendant then fled running at full speed from the car and from the officers who are now outside the vehicles. At first his arms swung freely, this is visible on body worn camera depicting the initial portion of his flight.

Officer Madera gave testimony that at first he recalled that he—well Officer Madera testified that the Defendant clutched his waistband at or about the time he was initiating his flight. He testified at first that it was somewhat down the alley that when the Defendant adjusted his waistband

he was impeached with preliminary hearing testimony that this was – occurred just before he took off running. Either one of these moments unfortunately would not have been depicted on body worn camera and so the body worn camera does not assist in showing me when that gesture would have taken place. But I do credit officer Madera that the gesture occurred. He recalled it closer in time at his preliminary hearing that the time of that took place was before the Defendant took off. And where it occurred is immaterial, but I do credit that the gesture was observed.

The Defendant ran down an alley that was directly to the right of the navy blue automobile and was another route of escape from the opposite side of the street of the police cars. And ran extremely fast, well ahead of the police officers chasing him. Among the officers chasing him were Officer Anderson who arrived at the scene just after the Defendant's effort to get into the blue car at the beginning of his flight. As the Defendant took off the blue car also fled the scene.

Officer Anderson and at least one other officer chased the Defendant down an alley for a period of approximately 20 seconds. The Defendant ran over an embankment and between two buildings. Officer Anderson testified, and I credit, that as the Defendant from about 40 yards away from him was running between two buildings, his left arm was swinging freely—well the testimony was that one of his arms was swinging freely, he couldn't remember which [arm] it was, and that his other arm was bent at the elbow at a 45 angle or so, per demonstration, with his hand in front of him at his waistband. And that the hand that was bent in this matter was not moving. And that this was a set of motions that was consistent in his experience with persons running with a gun that had been in their waistband that was not holstered and they were trying to keep from adjusting or falling.

Officer Anderson described this set of motions. He demonstrated them illustrating that he could see the Defendant from the back. His body worn camera, Government's Exhibit 1, was played and fully corroborates his testimony. The distance is not close but the Defendant is fully visible in

the sunlight between two buildings. He is swinging his left hand, his right hand is at the angle described by the officer. And his hand is in front of his body at his waistband location.

At this time the officer is heard on body worn camera stating, "Waistband, waistband." He testified that this was his articulation that he had seen the position in which the Defendant ran and concluded that he had a gun in his waistband and was stating this for the benefit of others. The Defendant continued running for about another 20 seconds. The total flight was about 40 seconds. And in the 2800 block of R Street, Officer Anderson got close enough to the Defendant to shout, "Stop, stop."

The Defendant complied at this time. He got down on the ground. He was immediately handcuffed. Officers began patting him down. The Defendant stated at that time that his gun was beneath his pants at his ankle and officers found it there. A gun, that is. A loaded firearm there and seized it.

The first question that I need to answer here is when did the seizure occur. I do find that although the Defendant was chased, the flight was not provoked. In other words, that the two cars were near but not blocking him or his flight path. The officers approach was aggressive but not such that a reasonable person would have—would have believed he was unable to leave. And, in fact, the Defendant fled easily down an alley pathway that was at the other side of his car.

He chased—he was chased for about 40 seconds. And at one point he was at least 40 yards away. He did not submit during the entire period of the chase until he was closed in upon by Officer Anderson. And at that time when the Defendant submitted to the command that he stopped, I find he was seized but not before that time.

At that time the officers therefore were required to have reasonable suspicion in order to seize him. I do find that they did have reasonable suspicion at that time. I am informed by the holdings in two cases, one of which—the *Pridgen* case, which is the case I was referring to before but couldn't remember the name of, is very much like this one. And that's P-R-I-D-G-E-N versus United States, 124 A.2d 297. In that case a person fled police after they approached him in two cars and said, hey, you've got a gun. He fled at full speed. The officer testifying saw that he was running in a manner essentially like this case, with one hand swinging freely and the other hand close at his waistband holding his side. And that the seizure after they caught him was ruled by the Court of Appeals in that case not to have been unlawful. And subsequent search was not unlawful because police had reasonable articulable suspicion that the appellant in that case was armed.

Here I find that the flight was an indication of consciousness of guilt in that the Defendant clearly saw the arrival of the police. Took off running in response to it, once he was unable to get himself into the car in a hurry. That although his arms swung freely at the beginning, he adjusted his waistband before taking off or about the time he took off. And that once he had really gotten some distance on the police but was still in full view, he was running in a manner described in <u>Pridgen</u> which [sic] one arm swinging freely, the other hand at his waistband area. Elbow bent at a 45 degree angle. That this was opposed inconsistent with free flight. Was not a natural pose while running. And that the officer testified credibly was a position he had observed in his own experience in persons fleeing with firearms.

Taking all of the facts and circumstances together, I do find that officers had reasonable articulable suspicion at the time they stopped the Defendant. I fully credit Officer Anderson to the extent that he actually articulated in a present sense impression at the time of his observation of the Defendant's position while running, "Waistband, waistband" that he certainly believed at that moment that the Defendant had a gun in his waistband. And I do find that taking together with all of the other facts and circumstances, his belief was reasonable at the time that the Defendant was seized.

For all of these reason[s] I deny the motion to suppress the firearm and ammunition seized. To the extent there was a motion to suppress the statement the Defendant made before the gun was found, this statement was not the product of custodial interrogation. And at that time was not the product of any unlawful action by the police.

Tr. 4/11/23 p. 84-91. The trial court added that "this was an area that police were aware gunfire had been heard in—in the day or weeks prior and this is an additional factor." Tr. 4/11/23 p. 91.

Following the court's ruling, Mr. Benson proceed to trial by the court on stipulated facts. Tr. 4/11/23 p. 91-92. Benson stipulated that: on October 8, 2022, he possessed a firearm in a place other than his home, place of business, or premises controlled by him; the firearm had one round in the chamber and 30 rounds in the magazine; that the magazine had a capacity of 31 rounds; that he did not have a license to carry a pistol; and that he did not have a valid registration to possess a firearm or ammunition. Based on the stipulated facts, the court found Mr. Benson guilty of the four charges—carrying a pistol without a license, possession of a large capacity magazine, unregistered firearm, and unlawful possession of ammunition. Tr. 4/11/23 p.108.

## Sentencing

Benson was sentenced to suspended sentences of 12 months for carrying a pistol without a license, and concurrent 6 month sentences for the three remaining counts (large capacity magazine, unregistered firearm, and unlawful possession of

ammunition). All terms of imprisonment were suspended. The court imposed a suspended three-year period of supervised release and placed Benson on supervised probation for one year. Tr. 6/9/23 p. 8-9.

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Mr. Benson's convictions should be reversed for three reasons. First, the officers did not have reasonable suspicion that Benson was committing a crime to justify seizing him. That he was wearing a balaclava on a cold day and ran from officers does not constitute reasonable suspicion of criminal activity. Second, officers did not have reasonable suspicion that Benson was armed and dangerous to justify searching him for weapons. That he touched his waistband before or while he ran does not constitute reasonable suspicion that he is armed and dangerous. Third, the statutes under which Benson was convicted are unconstitutional under the Second Amendment. Accordingly, Benson's conviction should be reversed.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

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