BRIEF FOR APPELLEE

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

No. 23-CF-514

TYREE BENSON,

v.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA CRIMINAL DIVISION

> MATTHEW M. GRAVES United States Attorney

> CHRISELLEN R. KOLB John P. Mannarino Kraig Ahalt

- * KATHERINE M. KELLY
 D.C. Bar #447112
 Assistant United States Attorneys
- Counsel for Oral Argument 601 D Street, NW, Room 6.232 Washington, D.C. 20530 Katherine.Kelly@usdoj.gov (202) 252-6829

Cr. No. 2022-CF2-5996

Clerk of the Court Received 03/20/2024 07:04 PM Resubmitted 03/20/2024 07:04 PM

Appellant,

Appellee.

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court did not err in denying Benson's suppression motion. The trial court correctly found, based on the totality of the evidence presented, that when Benson was seized, the police had reasonable articulable suspicion that he was involved in criminal activity (justifying the stop), and that Benson was armed and dangerous (justifying the frisk).

Also, the trial court did not err in rejecting Benson's claim that the CPWL, PLCFD, UF, and UA statutes are facially unconstitutional. Benson's Second Amendment challenge to these statutes, which relies principally on the Supreme Court's decision in New York State Rifle & Pistol Ass'n v. Bruen, 142 S. Ct. 2111 (2022), lacks merit.

ARGUMENT

I. The Trial Court Did Not Err in Denying Benson's Suppression Motion.

Benson claims that police lacked reasonable articulable suspicion of criminal activity to justify the stop, or that he was armed and dangerous to justify the frisk. Thus, he argues that the physical evidence recovered from his person and any resulting statements should have been suppressed as the fruits of a violation of his Fourth Amendment rights. These claims lack merit.¹⁵

¹⁵ Benson does not challenge the trial court's finding that he was not seized until he submitted to Officer Anderson's command to stop (4/11/23 Tr. 88-89). Nor could he, since he asserted in his suppression motion that he was seized for Fourth Amendment purposes "once he stopped fleeing and submitted to the police commands" (R.14 at 2). "[T]here is no seizure without actual submission," and, at a minimum, submission requires "that a suspect manifest compliance with police orders." *Plummer v. United States*, 983 A.2d 323, 331 (D.C. 2009).

Furthermore, weeks before the suppression hearing, the government announced that it did not plan to use any statements by Benson at trial (3/31/23 Tr. 5), and indeed none were included in the trial stipulations (R.19). Thus, insofar as Benson currently argues that admitting into trial evidence any statements he made to the police violated the Fourth Amendment, the issue is moot. Accordingly, we do not separately address any argument regarding statements. Because, as shown infra, the police had reasonable articulable suspicion that Benson was involved in criminal activity and he was armed and dangerous, any statements he made to the police after he was stopped were not the product of a Fourth Amendment violation.

A. Standard of Review

In reviewing a suppression-motion ruling, "[e]ssentially [this Court's] role is to ensure that the trial court ha[d] a substantial basis for concluding that no constitutional violation occurred." Thompson v. United States, 745 A.2d 308, 312 (D.C. 2000). This Court accepts the trial court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous, and "review[s] the facts and reasonable inferences therefrom in the light most favorable to the prevailing party." Hooks v. United States, 208 A.3d 741, 745 (D.C. 2019). This Court gives "considerable deference to the fact-finder's ability to weigh the evidence, determine witness credibility and draw reasonable inferences." Griffin v. United States, 850 A.2d 313, 315 (D.C. 2004). This Court also gives "due weight" to inferences drawn from the historical facts "by local law enforcement officers." (Jermal E.) Johnson v. United States, 253 A.3d 1050, 1056 (D.C. 2021). This Court reviews legal conclusions de novo. Hooks, 208 A.3d at 745. This Court will reverse only where the motions judge reached legal conclusions contrary to existing law or made factual findings unsupported by the evidence. See United States v. White, 689 A.2d 535, 537-38 (D.C. 1997).

B. Applicable Legal Principles

Consistent with the Fourth Amendment, a police officer may conduct an investigatory stop when he has reasonable, articulable suspicion that an individual

is involved in criminal activity, *Pridgen*, 134 A.3d at 301. "To justify a *Terry*[¹⁶] stop, the police must be able to point to specific and articulable facts which, taken together with rational inferences from those facts, reasonably warrant that intrusion." *Jackson v. United States*, 805 A.2d 979, 988 (D.C. 2002) (internal quotation omitted). If, in the course of the stop, the officer has reasonable, articulable suspicion that the individual is armed and dangerous, then the officer may also conduct a protective frisk for weapons, which may entail the use of handcuffs to restrain the individual. *Pridgen*, 134 A.3d at 301.

"The requirement of reasonable suspicion is not an onerous one since it is substantially less than probable cause and considerably less than proof of wrongdoing by a preponderance of the evidence." *Umanzor v. United States*, 803 A.2d 983, 993 (D.C. 2002) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted); *see also United States v. Sokolow*, 490 U.S. 1, 7 (1989) (reasonable, articulable suspicion is substantially less than probable cause, but more than a mere hunch or generalized suspicion). The Fourth Amendment imposes "only some minimal level of justification" particularized to the individual stopped. *United States v. McMillian*, 898 A.2d 922, 937 (D.C. 2006). "The process does not deal with hard certainties, but with probabilities." *United States v. Cortez*, 449 U.S. 411, 418 (1981); *see also*

¹⁶ Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1 (1968).

Umanzor, 803 A.2d at 993 ("suspicious conduct by its very nature is ambiguous, and the principal function of the investigative stop is to quickly resolve that ambiguity"). "[R]easonable suspicion" is a "commonsense, nontechnical conception[] that deal[s] with the factual and practical considerations of everyday life on which reasonable and prudent men, not legal technicians, act." *Ornelas v. United States,* 517 U.S. 690, 695 (1996). "[T]he determination of reasonable suspicion must be based on commonsense judgments and inferences about human behavior." *Illinois v. Wardlow,* 528 U.S. 119, 125 (2000).

In determining whether a police officer had reasonable articulable suspicion for either an investigatory stop or a frisk, this Court looks to the totality of the circumstances "through the eyes of a reasonable and cautious police officer on the scene, guided by his experience and training." (*Walter O.*) Johnson v. United States, 33 A.3d 361, 368 (D.C. 2011); Peay v. United States, 597 A.2d 1318, 1320, 1322 (D.C. 1991) (en banc). "Even if each specific act by a suspect could be perceived in isolation as an innocent act, the observing police officer may see a combination of facts that make out an articulable suspicion." Peay, 597 A.2d at 1320. "[O]nly reason to suspect that the person *may* be armed—not reason to believe that he *is* armed—is necessary to justify the frisk." (*Walter O.*) Johnson, 33 A.3d at 368 (emphasis in original). In assessing reasonable suspicion, the issue is not whether the particular officer in the case subjectively harbored a suspicion, but rather, whether a reasonable officer under the circumstances would have harbored such a suspicion. *Id*.

Reasonable articulable suspicion to justify an investigatory stop may be based on the collective knowledge of the police at the time of the stop. *McFerguson v. United States*, 770 A.2d 66, 72-73 (D.C. 2001). All the evidence necessary to support the reasonable articulable suspicion for a *Terry* stop need not have been communicated by one officer to the officer involved in the stop before it occurs. *In re M.E.B.*, 638 A.2d 1123, 1129 (D.C. 1993). Likewise, in assessing reasonable articulable suspicion for a frisk, this Court "may determine the facts available to the officer on the basis of police officers' collective knowledge, e.g., the facts available to other officers on the scene as well as those facts known to the officer who performed the search or seizure in question." *Germany v. United States*, 984 A.2d 1217, 1222 n.6 (D.C. 2009).

C. The Police Officers Had Reasonable Articulable Suspicion to Stop and Frisk Benson.

The police officers had reasonable articulable suspicion that Benson was involved in criminal activity, based on the totality of circumstances they encountered. As Investigator Madera explained, he and other officers were patrolling in the 2900 block of R Street, SE, because it was an area known for firearm-related offenses (4/11/23 Tr. 45). As Officer Anderson explained, he and other officers were in that area in regard to the sound of "recent" gunshots there either the day before or earlier (*id.* 15-16). Although a defendant's presence in area of expected criminal activity, standing alone, is insufficient to support reasonable suspicion that he is committing a crime, "officers are not required to ignore the relevant characteristics of a location in determining whether the circumstances are sufficiently suspicious to warrant further investigation." *Wardlow,* 528 U.S. at 124.

When Investigator Madera's unmarked car was about five feet from the SUV, Madera saw that the SUV was occupied by a driver and a passenger, both of whom were wearing face masks, which the trial court described as balaclava-style masks; both occupants "were frantically moving inside the vehicle" (4/11/23 Tr. 46, 50-51, 55, 84). As the trial court found without clear error (*id.* 89-90), upon seeing the officers, Benson, who was also wearing a balaclava-style mask, started frantically trying to open the SUV's door (*id.* 24-25, 46-47, 84). Unsuccessful in entering the SUV, Benson fled on foot, unprovoked, toward the mouth of an alley (*id.* 47). The SUV's driver looked up, saw the police unmarked car, and sped off (*id.* 46, 51).

In *Wardlow*, 528 U.S. at 125, the Supreme Court held that "nervous, evasive behavior is a pertinent factor in determining reasonable suspicion." The Court further held that "[h]eadlong flight—wherever it occurs—is the consummate act of evasion: It is not necessarily indicative of wrongdoing, but it is certainly suggestive of such." *Id.* at 124. To be sure, "not every effort to avoid the police implies a guilty

conscience," given that "[c]itizens have no legal duty to talk to the police." *Hemsley v. United States*, 547 A.2d 132, 134 (D.C. 1988) (quotation omitted). However, as *Wardlow* explained:

[U]nprovoked flight is simply not a mere refusal to cooperate. Flight, by its very nature, is not 'going about one's business'; in fact, it is just the opposite. Allowing officers confronted with such flight to stop the fugitive and investigate further is quite consistent with the individual's right to go about his business or to stay put and remain silent in the face of police questioning.

528 U.S. at 125.¹⁷ Thus, "[i]n a host of opinions, this [C]ourt has recognized the 'general proposition that flight from authority – implying consciousness of guilt – may be considered among other factors justifying a *Terry* seizure." *United States v*.

¹⁷ Benson claims (at 23-24) that his flight in this case should not be deemed to be unprovoked as in Wardlow, and that instead his flight is akin to that of the defendant in Miles v. United States, 181 A.3d 633 (D.C. 2018). In Miles, this Court found that the defendant's flight, provoked by the police, was not sufficient to corroborate an anonymous tip to give rise to reasonable suspicion that he was the person who reportedly had fired a gun. Id. at 635, 642-43. This Court found that Miles's flight was not "unprovoked" as in Wardlow, because before fleeing, Miles was followed on foot by one police officer, and a second officer "literally . . . drove [his police cruiser] right onto the sidewalk," in front of Miles, blocking his path as he walked, and that officer exited his cruiser and told Miles to "stop." Id. at 643. This Court found that such an experience "would be startling and possibly frightening to many reasonable people," and thus concluded in that situation, Miles's flight could not reasonably be viewed as indicating consciousness of guilt. Id. at 644. Here, however, the record showed that two unmarked police cars drove up, stopped in the middle of the street and did not block the SUV's or Benson's egress (4/11/23 Tr. 57; DE1 at 17:12:17). There was no evidence that any officer spoke to Benson, and when two officers exited the first unmarked car, Benson fled into the alley unprovoked (4/11/23 Tr. 47; DE1).

Bennett, 514 A.2d 414, 416-17 (D.C. 1986) (citing cases).¹⁸ Indeed, other courts have recognized that flight from police officers in an area known for gun crime presents reasonable articulable suspicion for an investigatory stop. *See United States v. Houston*, 920 F.3d 1168, 1172 (8th Cir. 2019) (defendant's flight from police officers in area known for gun-related crime sufficient to justify reasonable suspicion of criminal activity); *see generally Wardlow*, 528 U.S. at 125 (defendant's unprovoked flight upon noticing police in high-crime area is pertinent factor in determining reasonable suspicion). Similarly, an individual's unprovoked flight in an area known for weapons crimes weighs in favor of finding that the police have reasonable, articulable suspicion justifying a frisk. *See Henson v. United States*, 55 A.3d 859, 870 (D.C. 2012).

Also, the fact that both Benson and his associates fled immediately upon seeing the police weighs in favor of finding reasonable articulable suspicion of criminal behavior. *See United States v. Valentine*, 232 F.3d 350, 357 (3d Cir. 2000)

¹⁸ *Wardlow* recognized that "flight is not necessarily indicative of ongoing criminal activity," but nonetheless permitted officers to consider a suspect's flight among the circumstances that may justify a brief investigatory detention, because the Fourth Amendment "accepts the risk that officers may stop innocent people." 528 U.S. at 126. *See also United States v. Jeter,* 721 F.3d 746, 755 (6th Cir. 2013) ("There are innocent reasons to flee, but *Terry* permits officers to detain the individuals to resolve the ambiguity.") (internal quotation marks and alterations omitted). Indeed, "[a] determination that reasonable suspicion exists" need not "rule out the possibility of innocent conduct." *United States v. Arvizu,* 534 U.S. 266, 277 (2002).

(that defendant and the two men with him immediately walked away when patrol car arrived is factor to be considered in totality of circumstances in finding reasonable articulable suspicion). Indeed, upon seeing the police officers arrive, the flight of Benson's companions-who wore masks like Benson did and were inside the SUV as Benson frantically tried to open the door-was relevant evidence that Benson was involved in criminal activity. United States v. Briggs, 720 F.3d 1281, 1291-92 (10th Cir. 2013) (where circumstances leading up to flight of defendant's companion suggested the two men acted in concert, companion's flight immediately upon seeing police officers was relevant evidence that defendant was involved in criminal activity); see also Black v. United States, 810 A.2d 410, 412-13 (D.C. 2002) (flight of defendant's companion, after officers saw him and defendant apparently exchanging money for unknown object, implied guilt of defendant and companion, thus, flight supported reasonableness of *Terry* stop of defendant).¹⁹

¹⁹ Benson (at 25-26) cites *Posey v. United States,* 201 A.3d 1198 (D.C. 2019), to claim that "even unprovoked flight does not meet the requirement for particularized suspicion." The scenario in *Posey* is not akin to the totality of the circumstances here, and, as *Posey* acknowledged, "flight is viewed in the context of the specific facts and corroborating circumstances of each individual case." 201 A.3d at 1204. In *Posey,* officers who had heard a lookout for an armed-robbery suspect as "a black male dressed all in black," and a second lookout stating that "it was a group of black males" "last seen heading towards North Capitol Street," approached "a group of five or more black males who were mostly dressed in black jackets" about a block from the robbery site five to ten minutes after the robbery was reported. *Id.* at 1200. When officers approached the group, Posey did nothing that "drew any particular attention to him." *Id.* When Posey then ran off, an officer chased, stopped, and (continued...)

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